1978

## Verona Wallace v. Cottonwood Mall Shopping Center, Inc. : Brief of Appellant-Plaintiff

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF KIND OF CASE

This is an action in which Plaintiff seeks damages for injuries to her, suffered when she fell on a slippery substance left on the floor of Defendant's shopping center.

Plaintiff, while walking across the terrazzo floor of Defendant's Cottonwood Mall, slipped on a substance which was later identified as an Orange Julius drink, spilled on the floor presumably by another patron, but left on the floor for an indefinite period of time. (Tr. 2-4)

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The jury, after receiving forty-three (43) Instructions, and deliberating, returned a special verdict as follows:

SPECIAL VERDICT

"We, the jury in the above-entitled action, for our special verdict concerning part of the issues in this case, answer the questions submitted as follows:

1. Was the substance on the floor for such a length of time that the Defendant Cottonwood Mall in exercising reasonable care should have known of its presence and thereafter had a reasonable opportunity to remedy the condition and did not do so.

ANSWER: YES

2. If your answer to Question No. 1 is "yes" then was such conduct of defendant, Cottonwood Mall, a proximate cause of Plaintiff's injuries?

ANSWER: YES

3. At the time and place in question and under the conditions as shown by the evidence, was the Plaintiff, Verona Wallace, negligent?

ANSWER: YES

4. If your answer to Question No. 3 is "yes", was such negligence of the plaintiff a proximate cause of her own injuries?

ANSWER: YES.

5. Considering all negligence that caused the accident at One Hundred Percent (100%), what percentage of that negligence is attributable to:

(a) Defendant, Cottonwood Mall	<u>10</u> %
(b) Plaintiff, Verona Wallace	<u>10</u> %
(c) Others	<u>80</u> %
(d) Total	<u>100</u> %

6. Set forth the amount of damages that you find Plaintiff, Verona Wallace, has suffered as a result of the injuries received in the accident in question:

Medical Expenses

(Medications, X-ray, Doctor bills, and etc.) \$ 300.00

Other Special Damages \$ 1760.00

(Expenses for Housekeeping bills, and Etc.)

General Damages

(Mental & Physical Pain and Suffering, and etc.) \$ 0

TOTAL \$ 2,060.00

Dissenting Jurors:

No. of Questions To Which Juror  
Dissented

7

1



DATED this 3/23 day of March, 1978.

ROSE N. KRAMER  
\_\_\_\_\_  
Foreman or Forelady

(Tr. 117-118) .

Later the Court entered Judgment on the Special Verdict in favor of the Defendant and against Plaintiff "No Cause of Action" and awarded costs to Defendant. (Tr. 125-127) .

It is from this Special Verdict and the Judgment on the Verdict and the Instructions which Plaintiff-Appellant alleges were confusing to the jury, that she appeals.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

ARGUMENT

POINT I

INSTRUCTION NO. 30 IS VERY CONFUSING AND CANNOT BE SQUARED WITH ANY OF THE PREVIOUS INSTRUCTIONS.

The words and construction -- "In answering the parts of the damage question, be careful not to include or duplicate in any parts amounts included in any other part answered by you." That part of the Instruction Appellant submits is so unintelligible as to thoroughly confuse the jury.

This confusion is born out by the unintelligible answers found in the Special Verdict.

POINT II

THE SPECIAL VERDICT AND ANSWER TO QUESTION NO. 1 FOUND DEFENDANT'S NEGLIGENCE WAS THE PROXIMATE CAUSE OF THE INJURIES.

You are instructed that the Cottonwood Mall is subject to liability for the harm caused to the plaintiff by a condition on the floor at the Cottonwood Mall if, but only if, you find from a preponderance of the evidence that:

1. The presence of the substance constituted a dangerous and unsafe condition, and

2. That the defendant, Cottonwood Mall, by or through its agents had actual notice of the presence of the substance prior to the accident, and thereafter had a reasonable opportunity to remedy the condition and did not do so, or that if the Defendant did not know of the presence of the substance causing plaintiff to fall that it had been on the floor so long that the defendant in exercising reasonable care should have known of its presence and thereafter had a reasonable opportunity to remedy the condition and did not do so."

The jury in answer to No. 1 found in substance that Defendant was in fact negligent and that the negligence was the proximate cause of the injury. In other words by the jury's answer to No. 1 it found Defendant did have an opportunity by exercising reasonable care to discover the slippery substance in time to avoid the accident.

Again, in answer to Question No. 2, the jury again found the conduct of Defendant the proximate cause of the injury.

POINT III

THE INSTRUCTIONS WERE SO INCONSISTENT THAT THE JURY WAS CONFUSED.

Instruction No. 9 tells the jury Plaintiff was an invitee with a duty on the part of Defendant to keep the premises in a safe condition for Plaintiff to enter and take care of the business that brought her to Cottonwood Mall.

Again, in Instruction No. 10, the jury was instructed in substance that the duty to make the premises safe for Plaintiff extended to all portions of the premises.

Instruction No. 11 again tells the jury that if the substance remained on the floor long enough for Defendant to have discovered it, the jury must find in favor of Plaintiff and assess damages accordingly. This is exactly what the jury did by answers to both No. 1 and No. 6 of the Special Verdict wherein it found in No. 1 that the substance was on the floor for a reasonable time to give Defendant an opportunity to remedy the peril.

In its answer to No. 6 of the Special Verdict it assessed the damages accordingly. The jury also in response to Instruction

No. 11 assessed the damages accordingly.

Again, in Instruction No. 12 the jury is told again in substance of the duty of Defendant to keep the premises safe for its patrons.

However, starting with Instruction No. 16 the jury is suddenly instructed in another direction. The 16th Instruction appears to the Appellant to be further confusing to the jurors.

Coming to Instruction No. 20, the Court instructed the jury, we submit, in direct conflict to the earlier instructions - "In the exercise of its duty the Cottonwood Mall must use reasonable and ordinary care, but under the law it is not an insurer of, nor does it guarantee the safety of users of the premises."

Instruction No. 21 is in direct conflict with the earlier instruction regarding its duty to make the premises safe.

Again, the jury answered Instruction No. 22 that the slippery substance remained on the floor long enough to give Defendant, in the exercise of reasonable care, an opportunity to remedy the condition before the injury. However, the emphasis this time tends to excuse Defendant, with the further resultant confusion to the jury.

Instruction No. 24 regarding "Defendant having the right to assume that users of the Mall have normal eyesight and that they use the same in exercising ordinary care for their own safety

unless, in the exercise of due care, Defendant observes or should observe something to warn him to the contrary."

We respectfully submit this Instruction is meaningless and again confusing to a jury.

We further submit that Instruction No. 25 is in direct conflict with the earlier instructions in which the Court in Instructions No. 9, 10, and 11 tells the jury Plaintiff is an Invitee and that the Defendant has a duty to make the premises safe for her in the transaction of her business at Cottonwood Mall. However, at Instruction No. 25 the Court places Plaintiff in the category of a licensee and that she is required "to observe" and be aware of the existing conditions then and there present, and to keep a lookout for obstacles or other conditions reasonably to be anticipated." Again, the jury was, we submit, left with a confused definition of what the duties of each Plaintiff and Defendant were and wherein the liability lay. Under the Instructions the Court left the jury in a conflicting position as to whether Plaintiff was an invitee or licensee which we submit utterly confused them.

#### POINT IV

THE ANSWERS IN THE SPECIAL VERDICT ARE SO INCONSISTENT AS TO WARRANT A NEW TRIAL.

We have pointed out the various inconsistencies in the Instructions to the jury. The verdict bears out the fact that not only were the Instructions misleading and confusing, but also that the answers in the Special Verdict bear out the confusion. It is apparent that the jury intended to award damages to Plaintiff and the jurors even set out the amount (Answer No. 6).

POINT V.

THE COURT HAD A DUTY TO CLARIFY THE APPARENT CONFUSION OF THE JURY WHEN THE VERDICT WAS RETURNED.

We respectfully submit that the Judge presiding at the trial had a duty to reinstruct the jury, or set aside the verdict when it was returned with such an apparent confused Answers and Findings.

53 Am. Jur 440 #554: "If a case should go to the jury at all, it should go under proper instructions correctly declaring the legal principles involved. Instructions which are erroneous and misleading constitute grounds for a new trial or reversal of the judgment, unless the error is harmless."

Again, at 53 Am. Jur. 442 #557: "Instructions as a whole must be consistent and harmonious, not conflicting and contradictory. Where instructions given to the jury for their guidance, contradictory and conflicting rules which are unexplained and where following one might lead to a different result than would obtain by following the other, the instructions are inherently defective.....Inconsistent

the jury are thereby left in doubt and without any certain guide as to the law arising upon the evidence.

88 C.J.S.: Inconsistent and Contradictory Instructions:

"Instructions must not be conflicting, inconsistent or contradictory. It is, therefore, proper to refuse, and error to give, conflicting and contradictory instructions, and this is particularly true where the conflicting and contradictory instructions are on a material point or issue, since a charge containing two distinct propositions conflicting with each other tends so to confuse the jury as to prevent their rendition of an intelligent verdict.

"The jury cannot be required to determine what part of a contradictory charge is correct, and it is not for the jury to select from contradictory instructions those that correctly express the law, and they should not be left to reconcile conflicting points of law. Where inconsistent and contradictory instructions are given, it ordinarily cannot be determined from the verdict which rule was adopted by the jury, and the court is thus left in doubt and uncertainty as to the facts actually found by the jury as a basis for its verdict, and where instructions are inconsistent with, or conflict each other, it is usually impossible to say whether the jury were controlled by the one or the other.

"It may, consequently, be ground for reversal where contra-

it has been said that the mere fact that an instruction conflicts with another instruction is in itself no reason for condemning it, and correct instructions do not become erroneous merely because they are in conflict with incorrect instructions given for the opposite party. An inconsistent instruction cannot be sustained on the theory that a defendant was entitled to a peremptory instruction. Judgment will not be reversed where the inconsistency is only apparent, and not actual, or if it is apparent from reading the charge as a whole that the jury could not have been misled, and charges should not be examined with a legal microscope for technical flaws and contradictory statements. In determining whether there is a conflict, the decisive question is whether the instructions read as a whole and in light of the circumstances of the request in which they are given, are apt to confuse a person of ordinary intelligence.

Simpson vs. General Motors Corp. 24 Utah 2nd 301, 470 P 2nd 399: "Specific jury instructions should be considered in its entirety along with all other instructions." (No such instruction was given in the instant case).

See DeMille vs. Erickson, 23 Ut 2nd 278, 462 P2nd 159.

In Barton vs. Jensen, 19 Ut 2nd 196 (429 P2nd 44) Tuckett, J.: "A majority of the members of the Court are of the opinion that in



the case to the jury upon a general verdict. It appears that the best efforts of trial judge to make interrogatories simple, concise, and understandable still result in juries misunderstanding what is intended."

Badger vs. Clayson 18 Ut 2nd 329, 422 P 2nd 665.

Brunson vs. Strong, 17 Ut2nd 364, 412 P2nd 451.

Wellman vs. Noble, 366 P2nd 701, 12 Ut 2nd 350.