1978

# Verona Wallace v. Cottonwood Mall Shopping Center, Inc. : Brief of Defendant-Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an action by the plaintiff for injuries she sustained when she slipped on a foreign substance on the floor of the Cottonwood Mall.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

This matter was tried to a jury. On March 23, 1978 the jury returned a special verdict finding (1) the defendant Cottonwood Mall 10% (Ten per-cent) negligent, (2) the plaintiff Verona Wallace 10%(Ten-Per-cent) negligent , and (3) other parties, 80% (eighty per-cent) negligent. Based on the jury verdict the trial judge entered a judgement, no cause of action, in favor of the defendant. (R. 125-127).

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Defendant Cottonwood Mall seeks affirmance of the judgement entered below.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On September 9, 1976 the plaintiff, an employee of one of the tenants of the Cottonwood Mall, in Salt Lake City, Utah, was walking through the common area of the Mall while on her lunch hour. As she walked in a southerly direction in the Mall proper, she slipped on a foreign substance and fell to the floor injuring her arm. The substance was later identified as spilled Orange Julius drink. A customer at a nearby food counter testified that he saw a young man, presumably another customer, attempt to clean the spill (but that he did not get it entirely cleaned up) and that approximately two and one-half minutes later he saw the plaintiff slip on the spilled drink and fall to the floor.

The court submitted the case to the jury on a special verdict. In a split decision the jury found the defendant Cottonwood Mall negligent and attributed 10% (ten per-cent) of the negligence to it. The jury unanimously found the plaintiff negligent and attributed 10% (ten per-cent) of the negligence to her.

The jury found "other parties", presumably the young man who apparently spilled the drink and attempted to clean it up, 80% (eighty per-cent) negligent. The trial judge entered a judgement of no cause of action in favor of the defendant Cottonwood Mall.

ARGUMENTPOINT I

INSTRUCTION NO. 30 IS NOT CONFUSING.

Plaintiff-Appellant claims that Instruction No. 30 is confusing. The portion of the instruction complained of reads as follows:

"In answering the parts of the damage question, be careful not to include or duplicate in any part amounts included in any other part answered by you."

This instruction is a simple and clear direction by the court to the jury cautioning them not to duplicate items of damage. There is no evidence that the jury was confused by this instruction. It cannot be said that their award did not conform to a reasonable view of the evidence on damages. Indeed if they were confused and in fact did duplicate items of damage this would only serve to increase the award to plaintiff and then defendant not plaintiff would be heard to complain.

More importantly, however, the judge entered a judgement no cause of action in favor of defendant and plaintiff therefore is entitled to no damages and her quarrel with this damage instruction is not relevant.



POINT II

THE JURY FOUND THE PLAINTIFF EQUALLY AS NEGLIGENT AS THE DEFENDANT.

Plaintiff, in her point II argument states that the jury found defendant Cottonwood Mall negligent and that its negligence was a proximate cause of the plaintiffs injuries. This is simply a statement of the jury's findings and the defendant admits that the jury so found. Defendant only points out, however, that the jury found plaintiff equally as negligent as defendant and that her negligence was a proximate cause of her own injuries, and accordingly her negligence, under Utah Code Annotated § 78-27-37 (1953 amended) precludes the plaintiff from recovering.

POINT III

THE INSTRUCTIONS WERE NOT INCONSISTENT IN ANY MANNER AND THERE IS NO EVIDENCE TO SUGGEST THAT THE JURY WAS CONFUSED BY THE INSTRUCTIONS.

Plaintiff's discussion of the courts instructions numbers 9,10,11 and 12 in part III of her argument, does not appear to be an objection to those instructions. These instructions set out the defendants' duty to the plaintiff and plaintiff apparently has no quarrel with them. Plaintiff does however complain of Instruction No. 16. First of all plaintiff is precluded from objecting to Instruction No. 16 since she did not object to that instruction at the trial of this matter. It is the law of this

state and almost every other jurisdiction that a party must make timely exceptions to instructions in order to raise that matter on appeal. In 5 C.J.S. Appeal and Error §1464 (6) it states:

"Whether correct or erroneous, instructions which have not been properly challenged by objection, exception, assignment of error, or otherwise, must be accepted by the appellate court as the law of the case concerning the matters with which they purport to deal; they are not open to review and error therein is not ground for reversal."

See also Rule 51 Utah Rules of Civil Procedure: Morgan vs. Pistone, 25 Utah 2d 63, 475, P.2d 839 (1970); Straka vs. Voiles, 69 Utah 23, 252 P. 677 (1927).

Furthermore Instruction 16 is a proper statement of the law. That instruction is as follows:

"You will note that the person whose conduct we set up as a standard is not the extraordinarily cautious individual, nor the exceptionally skillful one, but a person of reasonable and ordinary prudence. While exceptional caution and skill are to be admired and encouraged, the law does not demand them as a general standard of conduct."

Plaintiff states that this instruction was confusing to the jurors but does not tell us how or why it was confusing and there is absolutely no evidence to suggest that it was confusing.

Plaintiff next complains of Instructions No. 20, 21 and 22.

Instruction No. 20 states:

"The Cottonwood Mall is under a duty to those persons using the Mall, to exercise reasonable and ordinary care to see that the premises are safe for the use so intended and that their condition will not expose a user of the Mall to an unreasonable risk of harm. In the exercise of its duty the Cottonwood Mall must use reasonable and ordinary care but under the law it is not an insurer of nor does it guarantee the safety of users of the premises."

Instruction No. 21 states:

"You are instructed that the Cottonwood Mall is subject to liability for the harm caused to the plaintiff by a condition on the floor at the Cottonwood Mall if, but only if, you find from a preponderance of the evidence that:

1. The presence of the substance constituted a dangerous and unsafe condition, and
2. That the defendant Cottonwood Mall by or through its agents had actual notice of the presence of the substance prior to the accident, and thereafter had a reasonable opportunity to remedy the condition and did not do so, or that if the defendant did not know of the presence of the substance causing plaintiff to fall that it had been on the floor so long that the defendant in exercising reasonable care should have known of its presence and thereafter had a reasonable opportunity to remedy the condition and did not do so."

Instruction No. 22 states:

"The defendant Cottonwood Mall may not be held liable for the injuries sustained by the plaintiff, which result from a dangerous condition not caused by the acts of the Cottonwood Mall employees, and of which the Cottonwood Mall had no knowledge, unless that condition existed for such a length of time that if the defendant had exercised ordinary and reasonable care it would have discovered the condition and could have remedied it before the time of the injury."

Defendant submits that plaintiff has no cause to complain of these instructions since plaintiff herself requested similar instructions, which set out essentially the same rules of law as those stated in the courts instructions. Plaintiff's requested instructions No.3 and 4 read as follows:

Plaintiff's requested Instruction No. 3 states:

"Even though defendant, acting through its servants and agents had no actual notice of the orange julius substance on the floor, if you find from the evidence that the slippery substance remained on the floor for a length of time that defendant in the exercise of reasonable care, could have discovered it, and remedied the condition, you must then find the issues in favor of plaintiff and against defendant and assess damages accordingly."

Plaintiff's requested Instruction No. 4 states:

"You are further instructed that one who operates a mercantile establishment is not an insurer of the safety of those who enter his door."

Moreover, the instructions of which plaintiff complains set out rules of law that are firmly established in the State of Utah.

In Koer vs. Mayfair Markets , 19 Utah 2d 339, 431 P.2d. 566 (1967), the plaintiff was injured when she slipped on a grape that had been allowed to remain on the floor of defendants store. At the lower court the judge set aside a jury verdict on her behalf and entered a judgement for the defendant notwithstanding the verdict. In affirming the trial court decision the Supreme Court stated:

"It cannot be disputed that a store owner is obligated to exercise ordinary care to keep the premises reasonably safe for the protection of those patronizing his store.... It is common knowledge that a store owner is not an insurer of the safety of his customers." . . . . Therefore in order to find the defendant negligent it must be shown it knew, or in the exercise of reasonable care should have known, of any hazardous condition and had a reasonable opportunity to remedy the same." id at 343.

In Allen vs. Federated Dairy Farms Inc. 538 P.2d 175, (Utah 1975) the plaintiff sued for injuries sustained when he slipped on some cottage cheese on the floor of the defendant Albertson's store. The court granted defendants motion for Summary Judgement and plaintiff appealed. In affirming the trial court the Supreme Court stated:

". . . . It is appropriate to observe that these slip and fall cases have usually been regarded as falling in either one or the other of two different classes.

The first involves some unsafe condition of a temporary nature such as a slippery substance on the floor and usually where it is not known how it got there. In this class of cases it is quite universally held that fault cannot be imputed to the defendant so that liability results therefrom unless two conditions are met: (A) that he had knowledge of the condition, that is, either actual knowledge or constructive knowledge because the condition had existed long enough that he should have discovered it; and (B) that after such knowledge, sufficient time elapsed that in the exercise of reasonable care he should have remedied it." id at 176.

See also Ohlson vs. Safeway Stores Inc., 568 P.2d 753 (Utah 1977); Long vs. Smith Food King Store, 531 P.2d 360 (Utah 1973); Howard vs. Auerbach Company, 20 Utah 2d 355, 437 P.2d, 895 (1968); Lindsey vs. Eccles Hotel Company, 3 Utah 2d 355, 284 P.2d 477 (1955).

Plaintiff next complains that Instruction No. 24 is confusing to the jury, but again simply makes the bald conclusion that it is confusing without stating how it is confusing. Defendant submits that it is a proper statement of the law and that it is a clear and simple statement of the law that could not confuse the jury.

Significantly all of those instructions, No. 20, 21, 22 and 24 of which plaintiff complains set out the duty of defendant in this case. Indeed the jury found the defendant-respondent had breached its duty and found it negligent. How then can plaintiff complain that these instructions were improper and confusing? If the jury was confused by them, then that confusion was resolved in plaintiffs favor by its finding that defendant was negligent. Plaintiff next complains of Instruction No. 25 which states:

"It was the duty of the plaintiff Verona Wallace to use reasonable care under the circumstances in walking in the area in which she chose to walk to observe and be aware of the existing conditions then and there present and to keep a look out for obstacles or other conditions reasonably to be anticipated."

Plaintiff argues that this instruction places plaintiff in the category of "licensee" rather than "invitee". In reality this instruction simply and properly places on plaintiff the burden of using ordinary care for her own safety. Even though plaintiff was a business invitee she nevertheless had a duty to use due care for her own safety. See Cooper vs. Evans, 1 Utah 2d 68, 262, P.2d 278 (1953). In any event the distinction under the facts of this

case is meaningless. The licensee-invitee distinction has no bearing on a plaintiff's duty to use due care for her own safety, but rather has reference to the nature of the landowners duty to the user of the premises. 62 Am Jur 2d. Premises Liability § 37 - 57. Defendant has already shown that the court properly instructed the jury under the law of the State of Utah with regard to defendants duty under the facts of this case. Again, defendant points out that plaintiff has no cause to complain about the courts instructions regarding defendants duty inasmuch as that issue was resolved by the jury in plaintiff's favor.

#### POINT IV

THE ANSWERS IN THE SPECIAL VERDICT WERE NOT INCONSISTENT.

Plaintiff asserts, that the answers on the special verdict were inconsistent and argues that the court had a duty to clarify this confusion. Plaintiff suggests that since the jury awarded damages, they intended that plaintiff should have received those amounts and that accordingly they must have been confused (presumably when they answered the questions relating to liability). Plaintiff fails to point out however that the judge instructed the jury to answer the question on the verdict form regarding damages regardless of how they answered the questions regarding liability. The first paragraph in the courts Instruction No. 30 reads as follows:

"You must answer the damage question no matter how you have answered any of the previous questions in the verdict. By asking you to determine the amount of damages, the court is not indicating, nor is it asking you to indicate that the party whose damages are being determined is entitled to them."

Furthermore plaintiff cannot now complain that the judge failed to clarify or to reinstruct the jury since plaintiff did not make any such request of the trial judge.

Plaintiff argues that the jury was not instructed that the instructions should be considered in their entirety and that specific instructions should be considered along with all others. Plaintiff is totally in error about this, as that court did so instruct the jury in Instruction No. 39.

Plaintiff also suggests that the court was in error by not submitting this case on a general verdict. The answer to that argument is that this case was decided under Comparative Negligence and the court was asked and therefore required to submit the case on a special verdict. Utah Code Annotated § 78-27-38 (1953 as amended).